FILED 05-26-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

Supreme Court of Wisconsin

2020AP1746-CR

State of Wisconsin, Plaintiff-Respondent

V.

Joseph M. Marks Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner0

> Appeal from The Circuit Court of Barron County The Honorable James C. Babler, presiding

Petition for Review

Steven Roy Attorney for the Defendant-Appellant Wisconsin State Bar No. 1115155 1310 O'Keeffe Ave. #315 Sun Prairie, WI 53590 608.571.4732 Steven@stevenroylaw.com Case 2020AP001746 Petition for Review Filed 05-26-2022 Page 2 of 15

Statement of Issues

This case presents three issues relating to the interpretation of Wisconsin Statute §908.08. This statute governs the admission of audiovisual recordings of statements from children.

First: The legislature requires a recording to be accurate and free from excision, alteration and visual or audio distortion. May a court admit a recording where the original recording contains audio distortion, but the state excised this audio and replaced the audio with an accurate recording?

The Court of Appeals held courts may admit audiovisual statements which had been excised and altered as long as the resulting recording was accurate.

Second: The legislature requires the child to demonstrate the understanding false statements are punishable and the importance of telling the truth. If the child does not demonstrate they know the difference between a truth and a lie, can they understand the importance of telling the truth?

The Court of Appeals did not reach this question.

Third: The legislature requires the content and circumstances of the statement provide indicia of trustworthiness. The legislature did not establish how courts are to determine indicia of trustworthiness, and our caselaw has not directly addressed this. How are courts to determine when a statement is trustworthy?

The Court of Appeals rejected past precedent, and did not determine any criteria for determining if a statement is trustworthy.

Table of Contents

Statement of Issues	
Reasons to Accept Review4	
Statement of the Case5	
Argument8	
I. This case presents a question of statutory interpretation	
which has not been address by Wisconsin appellate courts.	
Correcting the lower court's flawed analytical methodology	
will serve to restore established canons of legal interpretation,	
aiding courts as they interpret statutes in any area of	
law8	
II. This case presents a purely legal question in a fact pattern	
which is likely to reoccur12	
Conclusion	
Certifications14	

Reasons to Accept Review

Crimes against children are amongst the most heinous crimes in our society. In 2020 the Wisconsin department of Children and Families substantiated a horrifying 4,426 claims of maltreatment. (App. 6). Shockingly, this represents a decline from previous years.

Forensic interviews are a key tool in assessing allegations of maltreatment and prosecuting those who abuse our children. These interviews are designed to gather factual information in both a legally defensible and developmentally appropriate manner. (App. 7). The Wisconsin Legislature enacted Wis. Stat. §908.08 to enable the admission of these interviews subject to stringent safeguards contained in §908.08(3).

These safeguards are critically important. The evidence in a forensic interview may be the most damning evidence in a case charging a crime against a child. This interview is conducted *ex parte*, is not subject to cross examination, and should be conducted in a manner which is safe and child friendly. These interviews are far from the "crucible of cross-examination" the founding fathers envisioned. The safeguards work to ensure the probity of this evidence while still protecting the child.

This case presents an opportunity to interpret and evaluate three of the five procedural safeguards. The lower court's ruling significantly alters the statutory language of Wis. Stat. §908.08(3)(b) by treating the conjunctive "and" as the disjunctive "or". The lower court further rejected settled caselaw for

4

¹ Forensic Interview Services – National Children's Advocacy Center, Nationalcac.org (2022), https://www.nationalcac.org/forensic-interview-services/ (last visited May 26, 2022).

determining the trustworthiness of a statement.² The lower court's decision usurps the legislatures role in writing law, and creates needless uncertainty in the exercise of a judge's discretion. The State's jurists, litigators, investigators, defendants, and most importantly, the State's children deserve clarity regarding this important law.

Statement of the Case

Mr. Marks began to date E.F. in November of 2017. (R.113:123). Mr. Marks moved in with E.F. that month. (R.113:123). E.F. lived with her three children from a previous marriage. (R.113:124). At the time, R.F. was four years old. (R.113:124). E.F. and her husband A.F. had divorced previously; from November 2017 to January of 2018 the children spent every other weekend with their father, and his new wife S.F. (R.113:125). In January 2018, the children began to spend every other week with A.F. and S.F. (R.113:126).

In late November, Officer Greg Chafer was informed Mr. Marks was in violation of his sex offender registry requirements. (R.72:7-8). Mr. Marks was arrested, and subsequently released on bond. (R.100:9).

On March 19, 2018, S.F. called the police alleging R.F. had told her she saw Mr. Marks' genitals, and Mr. Marks had told her to touch herself. (R.113:249). S.F. and A.F. would subsequently receive full-custody of the children. S.F. was "especially upset"

5

² While *State v. Sorenson* does not directly address Wis. Stat. §908.08(3)(d), it is used to evaluate audiovisual recordings of a child's statements under Wis. Stat. §908.08(7). *State v. Sorenson*, 43 Wis. 2d 226, 421 N.W.2d 77 (1988). While the language used is slightly different, (indicia of trustworthiness, circumstantial guarantees of trustworthiness) statutes dealing with the same subject matter should be interpreted harmoniously.

Case 2020AP001746 Petition for Review Filed 05-26-2022 Page 6 of 15

E.F. was not charged with any crimes. (R.100:4). R.F.'s pre-kindergarten teacher Holly Schramski also called the police as R.F. informed Schramski Mr. Marks had told her to pull down her pants and touch herself. (R.63). Ms. Schramski testified this conversation happened on March 20, 2018, but her written statement is dated April 18, 2018. (R.113:109; R. 63).

On March 22, 2018, R.F. was brought to the Cumberland Police Station where Officer Chafer and Martha Moyer conducted an interview of R.F. (R.113:165-166). On April 20, 2018, a criminal complaint was issued, charging Mr. Mark with first degree child sexual assault and exposing genitals in violation of Wis. Stat. §§948.02(1)(e) and 948.10(1) respectively.

On February 6, 2019, the circuit court held a hearing to determine if the forensic interview of four year old R.F. would be admitted. After hearing testimony on the State's alterations of the video to fix issues with the audio recording, the court viewed the forensic interview in its entirety. (R.108:26). Mr. Mark's attorney raised objections regarding the alterations to the video and R.F.'s ability to understand the differences between a truth and a lie, and the consequences for lying. The court found the video was free from alteration and video audio distortion. (R.108:32). The court also found R.F. demonstrated a "clear understanding of false statements and that they are punishable". (R.108:34). Lastly, the court found from the time, the content, and circumstances of the statement, there was indicia of trustworthiness. (R.108:34).

The case proceeded to trial on October 3, 2019. R.F. testified she did not remember the interview taking place, she did not remember telling Mr. Schramski anything about Mr. Marks, and she did not remember telling S.F. Mr. Marks had shown her

his genitals, or instructed her to pull down her pants. (R.113:240-245).

After three and a half hours of deliberations, the jury returned a verdict of guilty as to both counts. (R.115:87). The court sentenced Mr. Marks to twelve years of confinement and eight years of supervision in count one and 18 months confinement and two years supervision in count two to be served consecutively. (R.116:17).

Mr. Marks filed a timely notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief on December 19, 2019. (R.80). A post-conviction motion alleging counsel was ineffective was filed on August 17, 2020. (R.88). Trial counsel had requested a respected psychologist review the interview of R.F. (R.88:4). Unfortunately, Dr. Jurek's report was not submitted until after the motion hearing regarding the admissibility of the forensic interview. Dr. Jurek's report concluded the interview failed to establish R.F. understood the difference between a truth and a lie, and the interview was littered with errors and irregularities which limit the trustworthiness of the interview. (R.88:29-30). Despite this, this circuit court denied Mr. Marks' motion for postconviction relief stating a reasonable lawyer would not have brought a portion for reconsideration, the court would not have changed its ruling, and the child testified at trial and "gave information".3 (R.117:18)

A timely notice of appeal was filed on October 12, 2020. (R.91). The Court of Appeals issued a published decision affirming the circuit court's ruling on April 27, 2022.

 $^{^3}$ R.F.'s testimony is located at R.113:239-245. R.F. did not provide any information about the alleged conduct, and could not remember any of her alleged disclosures.

Argument

I. This case presents a question of statutory interpretation which has not been address by Wisconsin appellate courts. Correcting the lower court's flawed analytical methodology will serve to restore established canons of legal interpretation, aiding courts as they interpret statutes in any area of law.

The Wisconsin Legislature enacted Wis .Stat. §908.08 in 1985. This statute allowed for the admission of videotaped statement of children in court proceedings. The statute is largely self-explanatory and easily construed. In the 37 years since its introduction, this court has only been asked to interpret the language of the statute recently. *State v. Mercado*, 2021 WI 2 (Wis. 2021). Likewise, there are few opinions from the Court of Appeals which interpret the statute.⁴

This Court serves as the primary law defining and law declaring Court. *Cook v. Cook*, 208 Wis. 2d 166, 189, 560 N.W.2d 246 (Wis. 1997). This case presents the opportunity to interpret three of the five factors governing the admission of a child's videotaped statement. An opportunity to resolve any ambiguities in a statute designed to protect the State's most vulnerable victims should not be passed on.

The published decision of the Court of Appeals is the first decision which interprets Wis. Stat. §908.08(3)(b) and Wis. Stat §908.08(3)(d). The court's decision reflects the neglect of established methods of interpretation. This neglect leads to a weakening of the democratic process and distorts our system of

⁴ There are numerous opinions which review the application of the statute. The vast majority of these opinions are unpublished.

Case 2020AP001746 Petition for Review Filed 05-26-2022 Page 9 of 15

checks and balances. Antonin Scalia & Brian A. Garner, *Reading Law: The Interpretation of Legal Text*, xxvii (2012).

Wis. Stat. §908.08(3)(b) requires the "recording is accurate and free from excision, alteration and visual or audio distortion." (Emphasis added). The Court of Appeals held an excision or alteration is permitted by statute as long so the alteration or excision enhances the accuracy of the recording. This interpretation effectively rewrites the statute, exchanging the legislature's chosen conjunctive "and" with the disjunctive "or", rendering the majority of the section a mere afterthought. The Court's reasoning extracted the purpose from the statute, then eliminates the statute. This method of reasoning has been rejected by the United States Supreme Court. See e.g., United States v. Gonzales-Lopez, 458 U.S. 140, 145, 126 S.Ct. 2557, 165 L.Ed.2d 409 (2006); Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 124 S. Ct. 1354, 158 L.Ed. 2d 177 (The Confrontation Clause "commands, not that evidence be reliable, but that reliability be assessed in a particular manner"). This Court should join in this rejection and restore the primacy of a statute's text in its interpretation.

When a child's developmental level is inappropriate for the administration of an oath, Wis. Stat. §908.08(3)(c) requires a demonstration the child understands "false statements are punishable and the importance of telling the truth." This provision serves to ensure the child attempts to tell the truth, just as an oath would. The legislature has not required the child actually demonstrate they know what "truth" is, or what a "lie" is. This could lead to an unjust result; a child enunciating the legislature's chosen standard without any understanding of what is true and what is false. This court should resolve the question

Case 2020AP001746 Petition for Review Filed 05-26-2022 Page 10 of 15

of whether the legislature intended this anomalous result, or if the prerequisite of understanding the difference between truth an a lie is implicit in the statute.

Wis. Stat. §908.08(3)(d) requires the time, content and circumstances of the statement provide "indicia of its trustworthiness". The legislature did not delineate how courts are to determine if the recording bears sings of trustworthiness. This Court has provided guidance when a child's recorded statement is admitted under Wis. Stat. §908.08(7); courts are to apply the five factor *Sorenson* test. *State v. Sorenson*, 143 Wis. 2d 226, 245-46, 421 N.W.2d 77 (1988); *State v. Mercado*, ¶54-56.

In declining to "rigidly apply or rely on the facts of other cases" the Court of Appeals not only violated the presumptions of consistent usage and the canon of *in pari materia*, it appears to jettison stare decisis as well. The Court of Appeal's holding leaves the lower courts with no guidance for determining whether indicia of trustworthiness exist. The Court of Appeals decision threatens to turn "indicia of trustworthiness" into the unreliable and unworkable test of Roberts v. Ohio. Roberts v. Ohio, 448 U.S. 56, 100 S. Ct. 2531, 65 L.Ed. 2d 597 (1980). This Court should reverse the lower court, firmly declare the Sorenson factors to guide throughout Wis. Stat. §908.08, and refute this unequal treatment of similarly situated litigants.

These issues obviously involve significant error correcting. Error correcting is not the primary purpose of this Court. However, the Court of Appeal's errors stem from a fundamental misunderstanding of *how to interpret law*. If these errors are not corrected, the development and declaration of the law will be stunted. This Court necessarily accepts a small percentage of

Case 2020AP001746 Petition for Review Filed 05-26-2022 Page 11 of 15

cases; cementing the canons of interpretation in our caselaw will guide the lower courts as they grapple with difficult legal questions. Correcting the fundamental errors in the lower court's reasoning to ensure the legal system regains the mooring it has lost and restore judicial fidelity to statutory texts. Antonin Scalia & Brian A. Garner, *Reading Law: The Interpretation of Legal Text*, xxvii (2012). The error correction in this case will benefit the development of law in any case where legal interpretation is necessary.

Case 2020AP001746 Petition for Review Filed 05-26-2022 Page 12 of 15

II. This case presents a purely legal question in a fact pattern which is likely to reoccur.

The Wisconsin Department of Child Protective Services conducted 20,960 initial assessment investigations in 2020. (App. 6). Many result in forensic interviews, but the exact number of forensic interviews conducted in the State is not readily available. Unfortunately, recorded forensic interviews of children are a modern necessity.

Despite the best efforts of all of those involved in protecting our children, technological errors happen. Wisconsin deserves guidance as to the admissibility of these recordings. If the legislature means what it said, and interviews must be accurate and free from excision, alteration and distortion, our child advocate services should know so they can make arrangements to adopt redundant systems, or lobby the legislature to alter the statutes.

Children will be interviewed who will be unable to swear an oath or give an affirmation to tell the truth. Child advocates need to understand whether they need to determine if the child understands the difference between a truth and a lie, so they can adjust their interview procedures accordingly.

Questions about the veracity of a child's statement will continue to permeate our systems. CPS is diligent in investigating the majority of referrals it receives, but substantiates a small fraction. The indicators of trustworthiness are not just useful for the criminal justice system, they are useful for all stakeholders investigating every claim of maltreatment.

Child abuse is horrific and systemic. It is a blight on our society. We need clear guidance from this Court as we seek to protect our children and prosecute offenders. Ignoring the

Case 2020AP001746 Petition for Review Filed 05-26-2022 Page 13 of 15

ambiguities and inconsistencies created by the lower court's decision will only harm our children. They deserve certainty which can only be provided by this Court

Conclusion

Mr. Marks respectfully requests this Court Grant review in this case.