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

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 267-2065 (608) 294-2907 (Fax) odaykm@doj.state.wi.us

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

	RT SHOULD DENY THE PETITION FOR SECAUSE IT DOES NOT SATISFY THE	
	IN WIS. STAT. § (RULE) 809.62(1R)	
I.	The court of appeals properly interpreted Wis. Stat. § 908.08(3)(b) to avoid an absurd result	
II.	The court of appeals properly concluded that Renee's video-recorded statement met the requirements of Wis. Stat. §§ 908.08(3)(c) and (d)	
CONCLUS	ION14	
TABLE OF AUTHORITIES		
Cases		
Roberts v. Ohio, 448 U.S. 56 (1980)11		
State ex. rel Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane Cnty, 2004 WI 58, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110		
State ex rel. Swan v. Elections Bd., 133 Wis. 2d 87, 394 N.W.2d 732 (1986)		
State v. Gru 2008 WI	<i>ınke</i> , 82, 311 Wis. 2d 439, 752 N.W.2d 7698	
State v. Marks, 2022 WI App 20, Wis. 2d, N.W.2d 4, passim		
State v. Men 2021 WI	rcado, 2, 395 Wis. 2d 296, 953 N.W.2d 337 7, passim	
State v. Minued, 141 Wis. 2d 325, 415 N.W.2d 515 (1987)5		
State v. Peta 171 Wis.	tit, 2d 627, 492 N.W.2d 633 (Ct. App. 1992) 12	

State v. Snider, 2003 WI App 172, 266 Wis. 2d 830, 668 N.W.2d 784 8
State v. Sorenson, 143 Wis. 2d 226, 421 N.W.2d 77 (1988)
State v. Sulla, 2016 WI 46, 369 Wis. 2d 225, 880 N.W.2d 659
Statutes
Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.86
Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)
Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(c)
Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(c)39
Wis. Stat. § 908.08
Wis. Stat. § 908.08(2)(a)9
Wis. Stat. § 908.08(3)(b)
Wis. Stat. § 908.08(3)(c)
Wis. Stat. § 908.08(3)(d)4, 9, 11, 12
Other Authority
Antonin Scalia & Brian Garner,
Reading Law: The Interpretation of Legal Text (2012)

Filed 06-09-2022

The State opposes Joseph M. Marks' petition for review. In a published opinion, the court of appeals applied the correct principles of law and standards of review when it affirmed the decision and order circuit court's denving postconviction motion. State v. Marks, 2022 WI App 20, \_\_\_ Wis. 2d \_\_\_, \_\_ N.W.2d \_\_\_. Marks' petition does not present any special or compelling reason for this Court to disturb the court of appeals' decision in this case. Marks, by his own admission, seeks only error correction, and he does not otherwise present any compelling reasons for this Court's review. (Pet. 10–11.) Conversely, the court of appeals dutifully applied both wellsettled precedent and well-settled principles of statutory interpretation to Marks' various arguments.

# THIS COURT SHOULD DENY THE PETITION FOR REVIEW BECAUSE IT DOES NOT SATISFY THE CRITERIA IN WIS. STAT. § (RULE) 809.62(1R).

This Court should deny Marks' petition for review. Marks was convicted of one count of first-degree sexual assault of a child under the age of thirteen and one count of exposing genitals to a child after a jury found him guilty. The issue on appeal centers around the circuit court's decision to admit a modified version of Renee's original forensic interview under Wis. Stat. § 908.08. Marks contended that he way in which the police "modified" the DVD of the forensic interview ran afoul of Wis. Stat. § 908.08(3)(b)'s requirement that the video be "accurate and free from excision, alteration and visual or audio distortion." He also alleged that the video did not otherwise comport with sections 908.08(3)(c) and (d). The circuit court disagreed and admitted the video. It found that the modification to the DVD, which enhanced the audio quality, did not negatively affect the accuracy of the video.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Pursuant to Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.86, the victim is referred to by the pseudonym employed by the court of appeals.

Moreover, the court found that Renee understood that false statements are punishable, the importance of telling the truth, and displayed other indicia of trustworthiness.<sup>2</sup>

To begin, Marks' petition, though philosophical and grandiose in its criticisms of the court of appeals, does not actually demonstrate any need for this Court's review. In fact, by his own admission, Marks seeks only error correction. (Pet. 10–11.) However, he does not specifically identify any errors by the court of appeals—he merely disagrees with its decision. (See, e.g., Pet. 10 (making the conclusory argument that the "Court of Appeal's [sic] errors stem from a fundamental misunderstanding of how to interpret law" without identifying those errors). Even if he had identified correctable errors, error correcting is not a special or compelling reason for this Court to accept review of this case. State v. Minued, 141 Wis. 2d 325, 328, 415 N.W.2d 515 (1987) (per curiam) ("filt is not [the supreme] court's institutional role to perform this error correcting function"); State ex rel. Swan v. Elections Bd., 133 Wis. 2d 87, 93, 394 N.W.2d 732 (1986) (the supreme court is not an error-correcting court but a court "intended to make final determinations affecting state law, to supervise the development of the common law, and to assure uniformity of precedent throughout the state."). This Court "is primarily concerned with the institutional functions of our judicial system, while the court of appeals is charged primarily with error correcting in the individual case[s]." Id. at 93-94.

Further, as discussed below, Marks' petition does not otherwise satisfy the criteria for this Court's review.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Marks also raised a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, which the circuit court and court of appeals rejected. He does not raise that issue in his petition, and the issue is therefore "not before [this Court]." State v. Sulla, 2016 WI 46, ¶ 7 n.5, 369 Wis. 2d 225, 880 N.W.2d 659.

# I. The court of appeals properly interpreted Wis. Stat. § 908.08(3)(b) to avoid an absurd result.

In this case, the audio portion of Renee's forensic interview was of poor quality, continually cutting in and out. Marks, 2022 WI App. 20, ¶ 9. However, the interviewer had a contemporaneous audio recording going during the interview as well. Id. Through a process described in great detail in the court of appeals' decision, the State was able to merge the audio recording with the video recording to create clear audio. Id. ¶¶ 9–10. Importantly, the modification of the original video did not alter the content of Renee's forensic interview. Id. ¶ 10 ("Flessert determined that Moyer's recording and the video 'matched perfectly."). Rather than altering the content, the modified video merely had clearer audio.

Although he does not say it in his petition, it was the merging of the audio and video that Marks contends ran afoul of the statute. *Id.* ¶ 21. However, at no point has Marks contended that the video that the jury saw was unclear, inaccurate in its content, or distorted in any way. *Id.* Instead, Marks merely takes issue with the *process* used to enhance the audio. *Id.* 

The court of appeals aptly applied well-settled principles of statutory interpretation in determining whether Wis. Stat. § 908.08(3)(b) permits the process that occurred here. The court began with the overall purpose of Wis. Stat. § 908.08, noting that the statute exists "to make it easier to use the videotaped statements of children in criminal and related proceedings, while preserving the defendant's constitutional right to cross-examine witnesses." *Marks*, 2022 WI App. 20, ¶ 22. That purpose is advanced in section 908.08(3)(b) by ensuring, "in fairness to the defendant, that the recording faithfully represent the actual content of the interview." *Id*.

That the court interpreted the statute in light of that purpose is entirely permissible and consistent with this Court's precedent. State v. Mercado, 2021 WI 2, ¶ 41, 395 Wis. 2d 296, 953 N.W.2d 337 (describing the "important purposes" of Wis. Stat. § 908.08 and discussing its requirements "with th[at] background in mind"); see also State ex. rel Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane Cnty, 2004 WI 58, ¶ 44, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110 ("[T]he purpose of statutory interpretation is to determine what the statute means so that it may be given its full, proper, and intended effect."); Antonin Scalia & Brian Garner, Reading Law: The Interpretation of Legal Text, 56 (2012) ("Of course, words are given meaning by their context, and context includes the purpose of the text.").

After placing its interpretation in the proper context, the court of appeals then assessed the plain language of the statute. Marks, 2022 WI App. 20, ¶ 23. The court interpreted what it means to be "accurate" under the statute. Id. ¶ 24. It concluded that "a recording that is impermissibly excised, altered, or distorted does not present to the fact finder a true and complete depiction of the interview, and thus is not accurate." Id. Because it is the accuracy of the interview that ensures its admissibility and fairness to the defendant, the court framed the question as "whether the manipulation . . . that occurred here impacted the accuracy or completeness of the final recording shown to the jury." Id.

Looking at the modification that occurred here, a merger of contemporaneous audio-recording with the video-recording, the court answered the above question in the negative. The court carefully assessed what it means to "distort," "alter," and "excise," and held that "an alteration . . . that restores sound quality as to more precisely capture the content of the interview. . . . enhances (as opposed to obscures) the accuracy of the recording and thus is consistent with the purpose and intent of the statute." Id. ¶¶ 25–26 (emphases in

Filed 06-09-2022

original). Importantly, the court of appeals clarified that "our holding is narrow and applies to the facts before us." *Id.*  $\P$  27. Its opinion says nothing of any potential similar modifications that may negatively impact the accuracy of a child's videorecorded interview.3 See generally, id.

Any other interpretation based on these facts would lead to an absurd and unreasonable result. An absurd result arises "when an interpretation would render the relevant statute contextually inconsistent or would be contrary to the clearly stated purpose of the statute." State v. Grunke, 2008 WI 82, ¶ 31, 311 Wis. 2d 439, 752 N.W.2d 769 (footnote omitted). Marks' interpretation does both.

First, Marks' interpretation is internally inconsistent because it would lead to the exclusion of an entirely accurate child forensic interview because of a modification that positively impacted its accuracy. That is inconsistent and nonsensical. Second, Marks' interpretation runs contrary to the purpose of the statute, which, again, is to make it easier not harder to admit recordings of child forensic interviews. Marks, 2022 WI App. 20, ¶ 22; see also Mercado, 395 Wis. 2d 296, ¶ 41; State v. Snider, 2003 WI App 172, ¶ 13, 266 Wis. 2d 830, 668 N.W.2d 784. A party seeking to admit a videorecorded forensic interview under these limited and unique circumstances would be faced with the impossible decision of attempting to admit a clearly inadequate video or foregoing a vital piece of evidence because the party could not modify the video to cure the poor quality in a way that does not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Perhaps those facts could exist in a different case, but because Marks has never contested the accuracy of the video here. this Court would merely be rendering an advisory opinion on that hypothetical scenario.

Filed 06-09-2022

undermine its accuracy. 4 Contrary to Marks' petition, (Pet. 12–13), this Sophie's choice runs contrary to the purpose of the statute and protects neither the children of this State nor the rights of criminal defendants.

Based on the unique facts of this case, the court of appeals' interpretation is the only one that gives meaningful effect to the words of the statute given their specific purpose. Because the court of appeals properly interpreted the statute, there is no need for this Court to further clarify or develop the law. Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(c).

#### II. The court of appeals properly concluded that Renee's video-recorded statement requirements of Wis. Stat. §§ 908.08(3)(c) and (d).

Marks' remaining arguments are similarly unavailing. At the outset, none of the court of appeals' decision surrounding Wis. Stat. § 908.08(c) and (d) in this case present "purely legal question[s]." (Pet. 12.); Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(c)3. Assessing whether a video-recorded statement meets the requirements to sections (3)(c) and (d) is, to the contrary, fact-intensive and based on the characteristics of the particular child in question. Mercado, 395 Wis. 2d 296, ¶ 46 ("Recordings of children's testimonies will differ depending on the facts of the case and the attributes of the child."). Additionally, the court of appeals stated and applied the correct standard in these types of cases: "Whether a recording complies with Wis. Stat. § 908.08(3)(c) does not involve a rigid determination as to whether the child correctly answered every question. Rather, we must examine the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> While it is true that it is usually the State that will be the party seeking admission, the statute governs "the party offering the statement," Wis. Stat. § 908.08(2)(a), which means Marks' interpretation could negatively impact defendants who wish to introduce a video-recorded forensic interview as well.

child's statement in its entirety." Marks, 2022 WI App. 20, ¶ 30.

The court of appeals viewed the recording in its entirety and reviewed it under a more favorable standard of review to Marks. Marks, 2022 WI App. 20, ¶ 19 n.6 (applying de novo review, "the standard most favorable to Marks"). It agreed with Marks that certain portions of the video "did not, in and of themselves, reflect [Renee's] understanding that false statements were punishable and that it was important to tell the truth." Id. ¶ 29. However, under its independent review, the court concluded that "other portions of the recording, and the recording as a whole, demonstrate that Renee understood these concepts." Id. The court specifically pointed to Renee's statement that "If you lie you get in trouble, if you tell the truth, you not [sic] get in trouble" and her affirmative answers and head nods to the interviewers related questions. Id. Ultimately, "Renee . . . articulated . . . in her own words [] the importance of telling the truth." *Id.* ¶30 (emphasis added).

Merely disagreeing with the court of appeals' review of Renee's video, Marks implores this Court to grant review to "resolve" an unnecessary question of legislative intent.<sup>5</sup> (Pet. 9-10.) The language of the statute is plain, and the legislature's intent is articulated by what the text says. Kalal, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 44 ("We assume the legislature's intent is expressed in the statutory language."). The statute requires that the circuit court make a discretionary finding of whether "the child's statement was made upon . . . the child's understanding that false statements are punishable and of the importance of telling the truth." Wis. Stat. § 908.08(3)(c). Both courts below aptly assessed the totality of Renee's interview and concluded she understood the difference

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Confusingly, this deviates from Marks' call to "restore the primacy of the statute's text in its interpretation" that he advanced a mere page prior. (Pet. 9.)

between the truth and a lie. Marks, 2022 WI App. 20, ¶¶ 12, 29–30. To the extent Marks asks this Court to inject "implicit" requirements that the legislature did not see fit to include, those arguments should be rejected. Mercado, 395 Wis. 2d 296, ¶ 50 (citation omitted) (this Court "will not read into the statute a limitation the plain language does not evidence.").

Finally, Marks admonishes the court of appeals for "violat[ing] the presumptions of consistent usage and the canon of in pari materia [and] jettison[ing] stare decisis" relating to Wis. Stat. § 908.08(3)(d). (Pet. 10.) He complains that "[t]he Court of Appeal's [sic] holding leaves the lower courts with no guidance for determining whether indicia of trustworthiness exist." (Pet. 10.) As a result, he asks that this Court "firmly declare the Sorenson<sup>[7]</sup> factors to guide throughout Wis. Stat. § 908.08, and refute this unequal treatment of similarly situated litigants."8 (Pet. 10.) Marks' argument is unpersuasive.

To begin, the Court of Appeals did not "jettison stare decisis"; rather, it acknowledged that "there [are] no specific facts that must be present in order for a court to conclude that a child's statement is sufficiently truthful." Marks, 2022 WI

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Marks' unexplained comparison to Roberts v. Ohio, 448 U.S. 56 (1980), does not merit a response.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> State v. Sorenson, 143 Wis. 2d 226, 421 N.W.2d 77 (1988). Sorenson. courts assessing whether circumstantial guarantees of trustworthiness are to review: (1) "the attributes of the child making the statement"; (2) "the person to whom the statement was made, focusing on the person's relationship to the child"; (3) "the circumstances under which the statement was made"; (4) "the content of the statement itself"; and (5) "other corroborating evidence." *Id.* at 245–46.

<sup>8</sup> Marks neither explains this point nor identifies any disparate treatment between "similarly situated" litigants. Regardless, the inquiry relates not to the defendants, but to the child's video-recorded interview. This argument is irrelevant even if he had attempted to explain it.

App. 20, ¶ 32. In turn, it reaffirmed that courts should not "rigidly apply or rely on the facts of other cases as a benchmark." *Id.* Instead, courts are to assess whether "the time, content and circumstances of the [child's] statement provide indicia of trustworthiness" on a case-by-case basis based on the particular context of the specific interview. Wis. Stat. § 908.08(3)(d). Both lower courts here properly underwent that analysis.

Additionally, there is no reason for this Court to "declare" that the Sorenson factors must apply to a court's assessment of Wis. Stat. § 908.08(3)(d). As a practical matter, this Court already rejected such a conclusion in Mercado. There, this Court reversed the decision of the court of appeals, among other reasons, for "conflat[ing] the first Sorenson factor with the child's understanding of the importance of telling the truth, found in § 908.08(3)(c)." Mercado, 395 Wis. 2d 296, ¶ 65. The court of appeals appears to not have applied the Sorenson factors for that very reason. As the Court stated, "although the Sorenson factors may guide our application of Wis. Stat. § 908.08(3)(d), they do not control." Marks, 2022 WI App. 20, ¶ 32 n.9.

To that end, the court of appeals' decision provides sufficient guidance to lower courts. The court of appeals (and the circuit court) assessed things such as Renee's age and the content of her statement related thereto, whether she displayed any animosity or negativity toward Marks, whether there was evidence of coaching, and the time between the assaults and the interview. *Id.* ¶¶ 33–34. Courts also *could* look to the *Sorenson* factors; courts could similarly look to their analyses under section (3)(c) of how the child's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> It also did not assess the *Sorenson* factors because Marks made no attempt to do so himself. *State v. Marks*, 2022 WI App 20, ¶ 32 n.9, \_\_ Wis. 2d \_\_, \_ N.W.2d \_\_ (citing *State v. Pettit*, 171 Wis. 2d 627, 646, 492 N.W.2d 633 (Ct. App. 1992)).

statement demonstrated her understanding of the truth versus a lie. All this is to say, the court can look to a countless number of factors to determine whether the statement has sufficient indicia of trustworthiness. Those factors will differ child-by-child and case-by-case. See id. ¶ 32.

Finally, despite complaining that the court of appeals did not provide lower courts with any guidance, Marks does not point to any actual flaws in its analysis. He does not, for example, contend that the circuit court or court of appeals relied on improper or irrelevant factors when those courts assessed the indicia of trustworthiness of Renee's statement. Rather, he appears to just disagree with the little weight the court of appeals put on his expert's critique of the interview. But that disagreement alone does not present a reason for this Court's review.

\*\*\*

In sum, Marks' petition does not demonstrate any special or compelling reason for this Court to grant review. His interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 908.08(3)(b) would lead to an absurd result that negatively impacts the State, defendants, and child victims. His remaining critiques of the court of appeals are not supported by its decision or the record. Finally, by his own admission, he seeks only error correction but does not identify any actual errors for this Court to correct. Because Marks' petition falls short of meeting this Court's criteria for granting review, it should deny the petition.

## CONCLUSION

This Court should deny Marks' petition for review. Dated this 9th day of June 2022.